
TOWN OF VERNON 
Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) 

Meeting Notice 
Thursday, October 7, 2021 7:30 PM  

Town Hall 
14 Park Place, 3rd Floor 

Council Chambers 
Vernon, CT 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order & Roll Call by Roland Klee, Chairman 
  
2. Administrative Actions/Requests  
 

2.1 Amendment/Adoption of Agenda - Additional business to be considered under agenda item #7 
“Other Business” requires Commission vote 

 
2.2 Approval of the Minutes from the September 14, 2021 PZC Special Meeting 
 
2.3 Approval of the Minutes from the September 16, 2021 PZC Meeting  
 

3. New Application(s) for receipt, if any:  
 

3.1 PZ-2021-15 38 Oxbow Dr. An application of Robert Coulombe for a Special Permit to allow a 
Home Business of Major-Type 2, pursuant to Section 4.3.4.8 of the Zoning Regulations, for laser 
engraving and woodworking at 38 Oxbow Rd. (Tax Map ID: Map, 26, Block 065B, Parcel 0010K), 
in the R-22 zoning district. 

 
3.2 PZ-2021-16 369 Talcottville Rd. An Application of Habitat for Humanity North Central 

Connecticut for four (4) Special Permits in the Special Development Zone-Economic Development 
Zone (Zoning regulation Section 4.20.4.4-wholesale showroom; 4.20.4.7-professional office; 
4.20.4.10-retail sales of products assembled or packaged; 4.20.4.11-general contracting 
establishments) at 369 Talcottville Rd. (Tax Map ID: Map 04, Block 0004, Parcel 0006A). 

  
4. Public Hearing(s) and Action on Applications 
 

4.1  PZ-2021-10 330 Vernon Ave. An application of Karamelahi Shafique for a Special Permit to allow 
a Home Business of Major-Type 2, pursuant to Section 4.3.4.8 of the Zoning Regulations, for a tax 
and accounting office at 330 Vernon Ave. (Tax Map ID: Map 26, Block 065B, Parcel 00029), in the 
R-22 zoning district. 

 
5. 8-24 Referrals, If any 
  
6. Other Business/Discussion  
 
 6.1 POCD-Planning Commission Discussion re: identified topics from Public Hearing/Public Comment*. 
 
7. Adjournment   
      
        Roland Klee, Chairman 
        Planning & Zoning Commission 
 
*Note: The POCD Public Hearing was closed on September 14, 2021. 



DRAFT MINUTES 



TOWN OF VERNON 
Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) 
Tuesday September 14, 2021 7:00 PM  

Rockville High School Auditorium 
70 Loveland Hill Rd 

Vernon, CT 
 

Draft Minutes 
 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call by Roland Klee, Chairman 
• Regular members present: Roland Klee, Robin Lockwood, Joseph Miller, Iris Mullan, Susan 
Reudgen and Jesse Schoolnik 
• Alternate Member: Mike Baum sitting for Mike Mitchell 
• Absent Members: Mike Mitchell and Carl Bard 
 Mayor Dan Champagne was present 
• Staff present: George McGregor, Town Planner and Shaun Gately, EDC 
• Recording secretary: Jill Rocco 

 
2. Public Hearing 
 

2.1 Draft Plan of Conservation and Development, dated May 25, 2021   
 
 Chairman Roland Klee welcomed all attendees  
 Town Planner George McGregor read the public notice into record 
 Notice published in Journal Inquirer September 3rd and September 10th. 
 Notice delivered to Town Clerk, Town Council and CT Regional Council of Government 
 Posted to town website June 18, 2021 
 Chairman Roland Klee introduced Patrick Gallagher from SIL Consulting 
 Patrick Gallagher gave a detailed Presentation on the POCD 

1. What is the POCD 
2. Plan Process 
3. Plan Structure 
4. Future Land Use Plan 
5. Plan Themes & Goals 
6. Objectives & Strategies 

 Chairman Roland Klee, opened the Public Hearing at 7:13PM and read the rules into 
record  

 Ryan Goad – 57 Glenstone Drive commented 
 Nancy Steffens – 224 South Street commented 
 Lester Palifka – 12 Bancroft Road commented 
 Ron Conyers – commercial land owner 45 S. Frontage Road commented 
 Maryann Levesque – 183 Bolton Road commented 
 Robert Hurd – 7 Rheel Street commented 
 Pegi Shea – 27 Fox Hill Drive commented 
 Alan Itzkowitz – 7 Knollwood Drive commented 
 Ann Letendre – 29 Gautier Drive and representing Friends of Valley Falls commented 
 Kevin Santini – Owner, Santini Villa Apartments commented 



 Richard Hayes - Commercial land owner on Reservoir Road commented 
 Mike Winkler - State Representative for the southern part of Vernon commented 
 Jon Roe – 70 Valley Falls Road commented 
 Eric Santini Sr. – Owner, Santini Villa Apartments commented 
 Tom Barnas – 11 Knollwood Drive commented 
 Town Planner, George McGregor, read into record that the town had received numerous 

letters from residents and commercial owners between May 26, 2021 and September 28, 
2021.  All documents are on file at the Planning Department. 

 
Robin Lockwood MOVED to CLOSE the Public Hearing at 8:41 PM. Joseph Miller seconded and the 
motion carried unanimously. 
  
3. Adjournment  
 
Susan Reudgen MOVED to ADJOURN at 8:41 PM. Robin Lockwood seconded and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
  
      
         
 
 
Jill Rocco 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1CfZxGQF6Ibe7cKfEGoGO2B39N_rsxWOk/view?usp=sharing 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TOWN OF VERNON 
Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) 

Thursday, September 16, 2021 7:30 PM 
Town Hall 

14 Park Place, Vernon Connecticut 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

 
1. Call to Order & Roll Call by Roland Klee, Chairperson at 7:30 PM 

• Regular members present: Roland Klee, Robin Lockwood, Mike Mitchell, Susan Reudgen (via Zoom) 
and Jesse Schoolnik (via Zoom) 
• Alternate Member: Mike Baum, sitting for Iris Mullan 
• Absent Members: Joe Miller, Iris Mullan, Carl Bard (Alternate) 
• Staff present: George McGregor, Town Planner 
• Recording secretary: George McGregor, Town Planner 

 
  
2. Administrative Actions/Requests  
 

2.1 Amendment/Adoption of Agenda - Additional business to be considered under agenda item #7 
“Other Business” requires Commission vote 

 
Robin Lockwood MOVED to ADOPT the agenda as is. Mike Mitchell seconded and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
2.3 Approval of the Minutes from the September 2, 2021.  
 
Mike Mitchell MOVED to APPROVE the minutes from September 2, 2021. Robin Lockwood seconded and 
the motion carried unanimously, with Susan Reudgen abstaining.  
 
 

3. New Application(s) for receipt, if any: 
 

3.1 PZ-2021-11 Cannabis Establishments. A text amendment to the Town of Vernon Zoning 
Regulations, various sections, to define, address, and permit certain cannabis establishments in 
select zoning districts. 

 
Robin Lockwood MOVED to RECEIVE application PZ-2021-11 and schedule it for a Public Hearing on 
November 4, 2021. Mike Mitchell seconded and the motion carried unanimously.  
 
 
3.2 PZ-2021-12 Overnight Parking in the PDZ District. A text amendment to the Town of Vernon 

Zoning Regulations to clarify the intent of Section 4.25.3, related to overnight parking in the PDZ 
district. 

 
3.4 PZ-2021-14 An Application of Volta Charging, LLC, for a Zoning Regulation Text Amendment to 

permit electric charging station/display kiosks in the Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts. 
 

 
Robin Lockwood MOVED to RECEIVE applications PZ-2021-12 and PZ-2021-14 schedule them for a Public 
Hearing on November 4, 2021. Mike Mitchell seconded and the motion carried unanimously.  

 



 
3.3 PZ-2021-13 An Application of Hartford Therapeutic Massage and Wellness Center LLC, for a 

Special Permit to allow an Independent Massage Therapy Practice and Commercial Education or 
Recreation (yoga and wellness et al.) in the Commercial Zoning District, pursuant to Section 
4.9.4.23 and 4.9.4.5 of the Zoning regulations, at 500 Talcottville Rd. (Tax map 09-015T-0021C). 

 
Mike Mitchell MOVED to RECEIVE PZ-2021-13 and schedule it for a Public Hearing on October 21, 2021. 
Jesse Schoolnik seconded and the motion carried unanimously.  

 
 
4. Public Hearing(s) and Action on Applications 
  

4.1 PZ-2021-09 - An Application of Alishkumar Garala, Vernon Bottle Return, for a Special Permit to 
operate a Redemption Center for used beverages pursuant to Section 4.10.4.8 of the Zoning Regulations, 
at 77 Industrial Park Rd (Tax Map 28-0133-0005H). The Property is zoned Industrial (I). This PZC 
application is available for inspection by the public in the office of the Planning Department, 55 West 
Main Street, Vernon, CT. 
 
The Applicant, Alish Garala, along with Priyal Garala spoke on behalf of the application. Mr. Garala 
reviewed the business plan specifics and operations proposed. He stated all activities will be inside the 
tenant space at 77 Industrial park rd. 
 
Mike Mitchell MOVED to CLOSE the Public Hearing. Jesse Schoolnik seconded, and the motion carried 
unanimously. 
 

Robin Lockwood MOVED to APPROVE PZ-2021-09, a special permit for a redemption center for used beverage 
containers at 77 Industrial Park Rd. based upon a finding that the special permit meets the relevant general 
special permit criteria of 17.3.1, subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. No outdoor storage or outdoor container sorting activity is permitted. All activities except for 

transportation-related loading and unloading, shall take place indoors. 
 

Seconded by Sue Reudgen. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
5. 8-24 Referrals, If any 
 
 None 
 
6.  Other Business/Discussion 
 

• None 
 
  
7. Adjournment  
 
 Robin Lockwood MOVED to ADJOURN at 7:48 PM. Mike Baum seconded and the motion carried unanimously.  
      
         
 
  
George K. McGregor, AICP 
Town Planner 
Recording Secretary       



APPLICATION 

For Receipt 

 











APPLICATION 

For Receipt 

 









































APPLICATION 

1 

 

































Town of Vernon, CT

Town of Vernon, CT, Aaron Nash, Town of Vernon

TaxParcelPublishing 2019

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3

September 29, 2021
0 0.01 0.020 mi

0 0.01 0.020.01 km

1:500

GIS Dept
Copyright 2020



 

 

PLANNING 
 DEPARTMENT 

 
 

14 PARK PLACE, VERNON, CT 06066 
(860) 870-3640 

gmcgregor@vernon-ct.gov 

TOWN OF VERNON 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM  
 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
FROM:  George K. McGregor, Town Planner 
 
SUBJECT: PZ-2021-10 330 Vernon Ave. Dr.– Special Permit for a Major Type 2 Home Based 

Business, Tax and Accounting Services 
 
DATE:  October 7, 2021 
 
 
Proposal: 
 
An application of Karamelahi Shafique for a Special Permit to allow a Home Business of Major-Type 2, 
pursuant to Section 4.3.4.8 of the Zoning Regulations, for a tax and accounting office at 330 Vernon Ave. 
(Tax Map 26-065B-00029), in the R-22 zoning district. 
 
The Applicant wishes to provide tax and accounting services as an in-home business. The applicant has 
set aside a +-442 sq. ft. area for office space where activities and services will occur. Standard driveway 
parking for one customer at a time is adequate. 
 

Aerial Imagery 2019-330 Vernon Ave. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



PZ-202-10   330 Vernon Ave.               2 
October 7, 2021 
 
 
 
Relevant Considerations under Zoning 
 
Type 2 Home Businesses allow for at home customers or clients so long as the special permit criteria can 
be met or reasonable conditions can act to mitigate activities where appropriate. The Ordinance asks the 
Commission to review two sets of evaluation criteria: the general special permits factors and the home 
business criteria. 
 
 
Special Permit Criteria: 
 
In order to approve a special permit, the Commission must find that the applicant meets the relevant 
general special permit criteria of Section 17.3.1, specifically: 
 

17.3.1.1 It shall not create a hazardous condition relative to public health and safety; 
 
17.3.1.2 It shall be compatible with neighboring uses; 
 
17.3.1.3 It shall not create a nuisance; 
 
17.3.1.4 It shall not hinder the future sound development of the community; 
 
17.3.1.5 It shall conform to all applicable sections of this ordinance; 
 
 

Home-Base Business Criteria 
 
In order to approve a special permit, the Commission must also find that the applicant meets the relevant 
Sections 3.29 related to Home Businesses. 

 
3.29.2.1  The home based business shall not occupy more than 750 sq.ft. of floor area. 
 
3.29.2.2  The home based business shall not change the exterior residential character of the 

dwelling, building or premises in any manner and shall not rely on a separate exterior 
entrance for exclusive access to the business space; 

 
3.29.2.3  No more than two persons other than the residents of that dwelling may be employed on 

the premises 
 
3.29.2.6  The home based business shall not display or advertise; 
 
3.29.2.7  No materials, products, or equipment for the home based business shall be stored 

outside of the space designated for the business; 
 

3.29.2.8 The home based business shall not create any noise, odor, dust, etc…on the premises; 
 
Section 3.29.2.10 states that the Commission may attach “reasonable conditions with respect to 

hours of operation” and other physical or operational elements. 
 

 



PZ-202-10   330 Vernon Ave.               3 
October 7, 2021 
 
 
Other Reviews 
 
No Town Departments provided substantive referral comment. 
 
Analysis and Recommendation 
 
The Applicant requests approval to operate a home-based tax and accounting business in a residential 
zoning district. The Planning and Zoning Commission is charged with determining whether, in this case, 
the relevant provisions the Zoning Ordinance are met, and most specifically the sections related to home 
base businesses and special permits. 
 
Staff finds that the home-based business criteria set forth in Section 3.29 have been met without 
equivocation. 
 
The special permit provisions of Section 17.3.1 are more nuanced and require that the Planning and 
Zoning Commission find that the use is compatible with the neighborhood; that the use will not create a 
nuisance; a hazard to public safety; and, will not hinder the development of the community. The 1.34 acre 
parcel is set back significantly from the street. Combined with the minimal activity proposed, it will be 
difficult to identify any impacts on surrounding properties at all. 
 
 
DRAFT MOTION(S) 
 

A. I move that the Planning and Zoning Commission Approve PZ-2010-10, a special permit for 
tax and accounting services as a home-based business at 330 Vernon Ave., based upon a 
finding that the request is consistent with the home-based business requirements set forth in 
Section 3.29 and is consistent with the special permit requirements of 17.3.1, subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
1. The business is limited to an area of 750 sq. ft. 
2. Client activity is limited to: Monday-Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. 
3. No more than one customer/client at a time. 

 
OR 
 

B. I move an alternate motion 



Plan of Conservation and Development 



Town of Vernon Planning Zoning Commission
Plan of Conservation Development Revision Draft Issue Matrix

October 7, 2021

Item # Type Summary Description Page # Additional Explanation PZC Consensus Specific Revision, If Any

1 Data Update Update all data points as available ALL
2020 Census, permit data, etc.…if updates are 
available. 

2 Text Revision Unspecified Grammar, Spelling, tense, edits ALL  Staff will fix all errors of this type

3 Map Revisions
Unspecified Map errors and omissions (NOT 
POLICY based) ALL  Staff will fix all errors of this type

4 Map Revisions
NO natural resource constraints shown on the 
future land use map App. B

A Natural Resource Constraint layer is in fact 
included on the May 25, 2021 Draft. See page 
2 of Appendix B. Draft has 2 Future maps, one 
with just land use, the other with natural 
resource layers

5 Data Update Open Space data update Goal 8 p. 58 open space data update to bullets 2 & 3

6 Map Revisions Omitted open space parcels P. 15, App. B
Parcels on Jen Drive, Hyde Ave., West St., 
Grove St-w deed restrictions/Town park

7 Policy 

Several residents suggested adding language 
from 2012 plan related to the balancing of 
single family housing; reducing opportunities 
for multi-family housing; renter v. owner 
discussion. TBD

The May 25 draft plan language places all 
housing and ownership types on equal footing 
and of equal value to a community. 

8 Policy & Map 

Discuss Min-Max density policy and Multi-
family apartment projects in the area of South 
St. and other areas (such as the Village Density 
policy area). Review future land use map for 
appropriate boundaries. P. 26, App B

Several residents provided public comment 
asking for a reduction of density thresholds 
and the prohibition of multi-family apartments 
in the South St. area (and a redrawing of area 
boundaries). Members of the development 
community requested an increase in density 
and the ability to request planning commission 
review for multi-family projects to determine 
appropriateness. 

9 Policy Bolton Lake p. 54 fw

Friends of Bolton Lakes and the Bolton Lakes 
Watershed Conservation Alliance have asked 
for  more inclusion into the plan, including a 
policy specified to the protection of Bolton 
Lakes (invasive species etc.…)

10 Policy & Map Donson Drive area Commercial App B
Expand mixed use corridor boundary to 
Dobson Rd.



Town of Vernon Planning Zoning Commission
Plan of Conservation Development Revision Draft Issue Matrix

October 7, 2021

11 Text Revisions
Inclusion of Hockanum River Linear Park 
Committee Omissions/Clarifications Implementation

Data insertions and Implementation 
responsibilities for HRLPC

12 Policy & Map
Future Open Space Designation of Land Use 
Map App B, P. 15, 28

The future open space element was included 
in 2012 POCD. The May 25th draft does not 
recommend this designation on the Future 
Land Use map, but perhaps be included in the 
open space map, p.15. Designating a private 
parcel as "future open space " with no other 
uses, could constitute a potential takings 
claim. Also, Goal 8.1 shows support for the 
Open Space Plan.

13 Policy & Map 
Exit 67 Node Environmental Protections and 
Expansion to the Bray Property App. B, P. 26

The May 25th draft expands the 2012 Exit 67 
designation to the Bray property, along Mile 
Hill Rd. The plan recognizes the sensitive 
environmental features in the area and asks 
development to be sensitive to those features. 
Several Citizens were concerned about 
development impacts on headwaters of the 
Tankerhoosen and other sensitive features. 
The development community cautioned 
against too many regulations, stifling 
development opportunities. The CRCOG 
referral identifies this area as potentialy in 
conflict with the regional plan similar to 
comments on 2012 plan. A statement of 
justification is required in those instances.

14 Policy & Map Exit 66 NODE P. 25

Zoned Commercial; 2012 Plan supported 
business; Draft plan revised to "favor 
industrial" due to lack of availble industrial 
land.

15 Text revision
Reverence to Zoning revisions to Section 4.7.5 
"to alow for a range of residential densities" P. 48 Unclear what this reference was intended for

16 Map Revisions
Historic Resources/Cultural 
Resources/Community Facilities P. 14

Consider adding a resources map or include 
layer on another map

17 Text Revision Exit 67 Node P. 26 Delete "Route" Insert exit, first sentence.



Town of Vernon Planning Zoning Commission
Plan of Conservation Development Revision Draft Issue Matrix

October 7, 2021

18 Text Revisions Hockanum Watershed Management Plan P. 14 

Plan is listed on State DEEP website yet we 
cannot locate a copy of the plan; delete or 
amend reference if plan cannot be obtained.

19 Text Revisions Recommendations from the OSTF various

The OSTF submitted specific strike through 
language with various changes suggested; 
some omissions, additions, clarifications; 
others more substantive.

20 Text Revisions Overall Site Design Quality language P. 25, 26

Adjust broad language to clarify importance of 
quality architectural design, site landscaping, 
and protection of environmental features in 
development projects.

LEGEND

Addition, Omission, Clarification without policy Implications

Policy-related revision, issue, discussion point


	PZC  Agenda for 10-7-21
	Draft Minutes
	PZC Special Mtg Draft Minutes 9-14-21
	PZC  Draft Minutes 9-16-21
	Application for Receipt
	PZ 2021-15 Application
	Application for Receipt
	PZ 2021-16 Application
	Application 1
	PZ-2021-10 330 Vernon Ave Application
	Imagery 330 Vernon Ave
	PZ-2021-10 Staff Report
	POCD
	Revision and Issue matrix October 7, 2021
	Sheet1


